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THE HOUSE ON 
VIA GEMITO 

			
			
			 
			For Rosa, for Rusinè

			
PART I 
THE PEACOCK


			
 

			When my father told me he hit my mother only once in twenty-three years of marriage, I didn’t even bother replying. A long time had passed since I had challenged any of his stories, with their fabricated events, dates, and details. When I was a boy, I always saw him as a liar and his lies embarrassed me, as if they were my own. Now, as an adult, it didn’t even seem to me like he was lying. He truly believed his words could recreate facts according to his desires or regrets. 

			A few days later, though, his punctilious assertion resurfaced in my thoughts. Initially I felt unease, then growing anger, and finally the desire to pick up the phone and yell into it, “Really? Only once? And all those times I remember seeing you hit her, right up until she started dying, what were they? Love taps?”

			Of course I didn’t call. Although I had been playing the role of devoted son for decades, I had also managed to hand him a fair number of disappointments. And besides, it was pointless to attack him directly. His jaw would’ve dropped the way it always did whenever something unexpected happened and, in that mild tone of voice he always used when he disagreed with us children, he’d start to list with great suffering—and via long-distance—all the irrefutable instances of cruelty that he had not inflicted on my mother but she on him. “What difference does it make if he continues to invent things?” I asked myself.

			Actually I realized that it changed a lot. To begin with, I changed, and in a way I didn’t like. It felt, for example, like I was losing the ability to measure my words, an art that I had proudly mastered as a teenager. Even the question I had considered yelling at him (“And all those times I remember seeing you hit her, right up until she started dying, what were they? Love taps?”) was poorly calibrated. When I tried writing it out, I was struck by its crass and impudent style. I seemed to be making exaggerated claims not unlike those of my father. It was as if I wanted to reproach and shout at him for slapping and hitting my mother even as she lay on her death bed, punching her with the expertise of the gifted boxer he said he had been at the age of fifteen, over at the Belfiore gym on Corso Garibaldi. 

			This was a clear sign that all it took was the slightest hint of my age-old anger and fear to make me lose my poise and erase all the distance I had managed to put between us while growing up. If I actually spoke those impulsive words, it would be like allowing my worst dreams to blend with his lies. It’d be like giving him credence, agreeing to see him the way he chose to represent himself, as someone you don’t mess around with, which was what he learned as a kid from European champion Bruno Frattini, who egged him on in the ring, and encouraged him with a smile. “Go on and hit me, Federí! Hit me! Kick me!” What a champ. He had taught him that you dominate fear by striking first and striking hard, a principle he never forgot. And since that time, whenever the occasion arose and without the least preamble, he’d size up his victim and proceed to bash the bones of anyone who tried to boss him around. 

			To be good enough, he started training on Saturdays and Sundays at the Giulio Luzi sports club. “Giulio Luzi? Not the Belfiore?” I’d ask with a hint of spite. “Giulio Luzi, Belfiore, whatever, they’re all the same,” he’d reply gruffly. And then he went on: the person responsible for introducing him into the sports club for the first time was none other than Neapolitan featherweight champion Raffaele Sacco, who happened to be walking down the street while he was fighting tooth and nail with a gang from the neighborhood near the railroad station that used to regularly throw rocks at him and his brother Antonio. Sacco, who was eighteen at the time, stepped into the fray. He threw a couple of punches in those sonofabitches’ faces and then, after praising Federí for his courage, conducted him to the Giulio Luzi or the Belfiore or whatever the hell you want to call it.

			That was where my father started boxing, and not just with Raffaele Sacco and Bruno Frattini but also with the latter’s protégé, Michele Palermo, the massive Centobelli, and tiny Rojo, champions one and all. He made swift progress. A kid named Tammaro learned it the hard way when he harassed him as he was walking home from school with his brother Antonio. “You? A boxer? What a joke, Federí!” he taunted him. Without a word, my father knocked him flat with a left hook to the chin. Then he turned to a friend of Tammaro’s who stood there paralyzed with terror and said, “When he wakes up, tell the bastard that next time I’m going to kick his ass, not just his face.”

			His ass. I was frightened by those stories. I was disturbed, too, because I had no idea how to protect my own brother from the kids who threw rocks at us, the way he had done for his brother. I was worried about heading out into the world without knowing how to land a punch. And I felt anxiety, even later on as an adult, when I saw how well my father could do the voices of violence, the posturing, the gestures, kicking and punching the air. 

			In the meantime, he seemed to derive enormous pleasure from his ferocity, from the way he knew how to deploy it. He used to tell me those stories to incite my admiration. Now and then he succeeded, but for the most part I felt a combination of distress and fear, which stayed with me longer. A case in point: the two shoe-shine boys on Via Milano, in Vasto, at 7 P.M. on a summer evening. My father, seventeen at the time, and his brother Antonio, fifteen, were on their way back from the gym on Corso Garibaldi. Suddenly it started to rain. The two boys—it was Saturday and they were wearing their fascist uniforms, something my father emphasized proudly, even decades later, in the belief that his outfit made him look sharp and terribly manly—ran for cover under the porticoes of the Teatro Apollo, where there was already a cluster of other people, including the two shoe-shine boys. There was clamoring, heavy rain, the smell of wet dust. When the shoe-shine boys caught sight of them, they sneered cruelly. “Those two ugly sonofabitches made it rain,” one of them said loudly to the other. Their brutish words offended the boys, their mother, their father, maybe even their ominous black shirts. Without thinking twice, my father reached over and, with his left hand, grabbed the collar of the shoe-shine boy who had spoken those words, even though he was big, tough, and around thirty, and planted an uppercut on that Neanderthal’s foul mouth—Neanderthal he called him, to show how primitive he was—knocking out his two front teeth. Thwack. He punched him so hard that one of the man’s broken teeth—and at this point in the story, he’d wave his index finger in front of me to show me a scar that I couldn’t actually see but to appease him I said yes, Papà, I see it—got wedged into the flesh of his finger. He had to flick his hand hard to make it fall out. 

			Whenever he told that story, he always flicked his hand hard, as if the fragment of tooth was still stuck in it. I’d stare at him in horrified devotion: lean and lanky, he had a long face, high forehead, and a slender, elegant nose with delicate nostrils, a nose that definitely didn’t look as if it belonged to a skilled boxer. He always came home from work furious, as if he had just knocked out Tammaro or the shoe-shine boy; always the victim of some urgent, dramatic situation; always ready, even if faced with a multitude of enemies and it was inevitable that he’d get beaten to a pulp, of courageously chasing back fear. Because he was a man who had been initiated into the world of boxing by none other than a European heavyweight champion. He was a man who wouldn’t let anyone kick him around, much less his wife. If anything, he’d be the one to kick her around. Toe kick—that’s what I was always afraid he would do to her when he came home—and heel stomp.

			 

			One September morning, in order to put my mind at rest, I decided to calmly map out all the times my father had definitely hit my mother.

			At first the prospect seemed complex and loaded with details but when I subjected each of the recollected images—a slap, a dish of pasta hurled at the wall, a scream, a glare—to the rigors of prose and articulated them into an organized series of events, memory started to waver and with some alarm I realized that I was left with only two irrefutable episodes.

			The first one dated back to 1955, at some point between the fourth and fifteenth of June, the period of time during which my father exhibited twenty-eight of his works of art, including paintings, watercolors, and drawings, at the San Carlo art gallery, located at number 7 in the Galleria Umberto I arcade. 

			I sought out an image to begin. I envisioned him in bed, their big double bed. I had just brought him coffee and its aroma wafted through the house. He sipped it and read out loud to my mother, brothers, and me from the newspaper reviews that mentioned his name. Now those were the days . . . He always liked recalling those days. Waking up like that, the smell of sleep mixing with that of coffee, the first of an endless number of cigarettes, and the scent of fresh newsprint, anxiously scouring the pages and headlines and columns, and then finding his name—self-taught, no formal training, no art school, no pulling of strings—in print in the city papers or even the provincial ones, followed by a couple hundred of words about his work. See what he had managed to do, him, a man born on Barrettari alley, a man who had been forced by his father, a lathe worker with absolutely no understanding of art, to leave school and get a job. What a waste of youth. By the age of eighteen, in 1935, he was working for the railroad as an electrical repairman. Thanks only to his great intelligence and desire to improve his situation, by 1940 he was already second in charge. Now, as of a few years—it was 1951 at the time—he had become senior station master and train dispatcher for all moving cars on the lines in and around Naples. Now that’s satisfaction. An important job. And all because of merit, not thanks to seniority or favors. At the time he had been the youngest station master in all of Italy, word of honor, and much appreciated by his superiors, even if, it’s true, he did everything he could to get out of work and stay home and do his real job, the one he had been born to do: paint and draw, or as he said, pittare. Sure, a fair number of his colleagues couldn’t stand him; they called him a presumptuous shitty artist and accused him of being lazy, arrogant, and a blowhard. It’s true, he was lazy. He was arrogant. He was a blowhard. He was all those things, and the first to admit it. He felt he had the right to be lazy, arrogant, and a blowhard—to anyone who busted his balls. He was born to be a painter, not a railroader. But since he was the kind of person who did everything to the hilt, particularly if it offered him the chance to demonstrate that he could do it better than someone else, I believe that he did his job pretty well. Despite all the other ideas that floated around his head, one thing was for certain. When he was on duty—and he was on duty a lot, he had long hours, day shifts and night ones, and I remember because sometimes when I was older I’d stop by his office and watch him direct the traffic of convoy cars, chase them down, smack his ruler, triangle, and pencil on a huge drawing table in a way that was both petulant and extremely lucid—there were never any train wrecks or deaths.

			Of course he took full advantage of his role. As senior station master he was authorized—he emphasized the fact that he held authority with great pleasure—to conduct random inspections of the stations in his jurisdiction four times a month. So, between 1954 and 1955, he inspected Cassino, Cancello, Ilva, and the Napoli Smistamento depot. He didn’t do it because he enjoyed inspecting: cocky fellow that he was, obsessed only with outshining everyone, the last thing on his mind was the actual inspection. Unless, of course, Federí went on to explain, he encountered an employee who was rude to him and led him to believe that he didn’t give a fuck about his role, his opinions, or his artistic endeavors, well then, he could just go straight to hell, and suddenly Federí became extremely meticulous. But otherwise, no. He took advantage of being able to inspect all those stations in order to catch the light and colors of real life in either pastels or tempera. 

			Because, although he was a railroader, he thought about nothing but the exhibition he was preparing. And indeed, when he was good and ready, he came home, shut himself in, told the station that he had rheumatic fever, gastritis, or any number of other ailments, and spent his time painting line signals, junctions, sidetracks, cattle cars, railyards, depots, and railheads. I remember each and every one of his paintings: my grandmother, brothers, and I slept in the same room where he painted, the dining room, where his monumental easel stood surrounded by his paintbox and canvases. I used to fall asleep staring at those visions, they seemed beautiful to me; I wish I could find them. 

			Between work and bouts of new illnesses, he completed a further series of paintings devoted to what he saw from the window: the surrounding countryside, but not the one that smelled of mint where I used to play as a kid with my brothers and friends, no; the one of felled trees and severed ancient roots, the flattened one, which by the end of 1954 was rapidly being transformed into a building site. He did studies of wastelands, pile drivers, cement mixers, bulldozers, hoists, storage silos for cement, a detailed rendering of the massacre of a hillside, and a painting crowded with scenes from a construction yard entitled Cantiere ’54.

			Then he went on to still-lifes: he drew bowls we had at home and either a few dried herring or a couple of apples, a hatchet or a bunch of artichokes, a few mussels or some flowers, whatever he found lying around the house. He added two nudes to the group that he had done years earlier when he took classes at the Scuola libera del nudo, one done in sanguine and the other in charcoal. He even included a portrait of my brother when he had nephritis, which came out better, he said, than anything by Battistello Caracciolo. And that was it.

			All that work took him eight months. The whole apartment on Via Vincenzo Gemito smelled of paint and turpentine. Every piece of furniture in the room we referred to as the dining room had been shoved up against the wall (how hard my mother had worked to obtain those pieces of furniture, and how carelessly he treated them) and at night there were always canvases drying on our beds. His wife complained, my grandmother grumbled. How could he let his children—meaning me and my three brothers—breathe that poison night and day? Had he forgotten that we slept in there? Padreterno, he’d holler, tell me what I’ve done to deserve a life of ball-busting by these two idiotic women. But then it was over: the task had been completed. I have no idea where he found the money to pay for the exhibition. The fact is that with a little help from Don Luigino Campanile, a shoemaker with a shop in Vomero but also an art-lover, who kindly offered to transport all the artwork in his delivery van, Federí went and hung his paintings on the walls of the San Carlo gallery. 

			 

			He was thirty-eight years old and it must have felt like a turning point in his life. Even when he was elderly and ill, he’d clearly and proudly rattle off the names of all the important people who came to see the show: Ciardo, Notte, Striccoli and so on, rivers of first and last names, artists—he assured me—of major renown, sounds which have faded over time but which, back then, I heard him mention often, at times with respect but more often than not with bitterness and disdain for all the wrongs they did him, or which he believed they had. All it took was for a fellow painter to be grazed ever so slightly by fame, even at the most local level, and Federí would start spewing insults, both to his face and behind his back. Mostly he had it in for those of his own age or younger. He couldn’t stand the fact that they had been luckier than him, and he’d furiously enumerate their artistic shortcomings and petty ways. Now and then he even felt the need to insult and offend people who, underneath it all, he respected, just to let off steam. But on that specific occasion of his exhibit opening, everyone seemed praiseworthy because, even if their intentions might have been cruel, they had come to the event and signed the guest book. Eighty-four signatures, that’s not peanuts. And that’s not counting the famous people who appeared like the Virgin Mary but considered signing the guest book too much of a commitment: Giovanni Brancaccio, Carlo Verdecchia, and Guido Casciaro. He continued to grumble about that even decades later, deeply pained: what would a signature have cost them? Show a little generosity. Anyway, there was a huge crowd. Visitors and artists stayed on for lively discussions of art, painting, his style of painting until long after the San Carlo closed.

			How hard was it for my mother to understand? Even on normal days, she was a pain. After dinner, as soon as he said, “I’m going out for a bit,” in order to make the rounds of galleries and discuss art, she’d drop everything and say, “I’ll come too.” My father would get angry, he didn’t know how to explain it to her. Why on earth should she come? What would she say to other artists? And especially on important occasions like that: didn’t she realize that she would just be in the way? Every night, after a long, hard day of work at the train depot, he came home exhausted, only to have to go out and do the rounds of the galleries and put in his hours as an artist. It wasn’t fun or anything; he had to deal with all those so-called friends, enemies, potential clients, people who wanted to talk prices, people who might be interested in negotiating despite the pit of venomous snakes who tried to distract buyers by suggesting other works, other paintings, more important painters, such as themselves, for example. It wasn’t fun; it was war. Cruelty, aggression, insinuations, calumny. Rusinè, please, just stay home.

			But my mother didn’t want to stay at home, especially on such an occasion. She was thirty-four years old, had four children, and had been married for thirteen years. She grew up fatherless and had worked as a glovemaker ever since she was a child. (“You know how to make gloves? So, make gloves! What do you know about painting?”) At the age of five, her job was to pull out the cotton threads that the decorative rivets left inside the fingers of the gloves, and roll them into knots so the stitching didn’t come undone, a task that broke her nails and chafed her fingertips. Despite all the talk, things with him hadn’t changed that much. But it wasn’t all bad. Sure, he had some negative qualities, but there was also something about him that continued to appeal to her. Imaginative, playful, and completely nuts: she had liked him straight away when he had stopped her while she was walking down the street on that warm afternoon in 1938. Pardon me, signorina. He was different from other men, his gestures, his tone of voice. He didn’t look like her brother Peppino, her brother’s friends, or her mother’s sisters’ husbands; he didn’t look like anyone she knew.

			He had seen her while he was chatting with a few of his friends, colleagues from the train depot. One look, that’s all it takes. He had seen her from up above, from the bridge that looks down over the switching yard. She was walking down the dusty street, the celestial blue of the Marina reverberating behind her. He couldn’t stop himself, he swooped down like a hawk; he, too, compared himself to that bird of prey when nostalgically recalling their encounter. She was beautiful, yes, but it was likely that she was less beautiful than she was now, at the age of thirty-four. She was seventeen at the time. She wore her long black hair loose, had the face of a china doll, and had on a pink, three-quarter length, pleated skirt that fluttered around her well-shaped calves and ankles, a light-colored shirt, and a bolero jacket. 

			Signorina, pardon me, signorina. He laughed, strutted about, and gesticulated wildly. She didn’t say a thing and kept walking, eyes straight ahead, casting only ironic glances at him, sizing this stranger up. He was dressed all in black, his forehead was too big, he had a moustache, and he seemed old. At a certain point, she even tried to discourage his advances by saying as much. “You’re too old for me.” A little offended, a little peeved, he went on to clarify that he was only twenty-one, that it was the suit that made him look old, maybe the hard work, maybe his moustache. 

			That’s when she realized that she liked him. Who knows why he appealed to her; these things are mysterious and can’t be explained. Maybe because he behaved as if he were the son of a king who had dressed up as an electrical repairman for some mysterious reason known only to him. Maybe because he pulled out a piece of paper and pencil and drew her right then and there, her mouth open in surprise. Whatever the reason, she was soon officially engaged to him and pleased to have been so lucky to meet a man who knew how to keep her happy, who talked and talked, and was never silent. And let’s not forget that he also had a steady income. Objectively speaking, what more could she hope for?

			But here it was, June 1955, and he was set to finally become everything he had promised her fifteen years ago, a well-known artist, and she didn’t want to miss her chance of being seen in public, especially as the wife of such a famous artist. And so, while my father continued to swear high and low to all the saints and virgins, she took off the clothes she wore at home and pulled out a selection of dresses from her wardrobe that she had sewn either for some cousin’s wedding or for the confirmation of a friend’s child or for any number of other occasions. She chose one without hesitation. In a flash, with only a thin layer of Nivea cream (which she pronounced Nivèa) and some lipstick, she turned into a woman of breathtaking beauty.

			He cussed even louder. Now, when I think about it, I suspect that he detested his wife’s unique beauty; the power that her manner and form had over him (and which he knew so well) made him anxious. There was an indefinable quality about her physique, it was a secret of secrets, the kind that can never be explained and as such is bewitching. Only she knew the secret formula and she used it at her discretion. Rusinè could turn gloomy for months on end and then suddenly dart out again. On that particular occasion, a pair of hair combs, elegantly crafted with decorative swirls and given to her by my father as a gift, added the final touch to her beauty. “Federí, I’m ready,” she then announced in dialect. We always spoke in dialect among ourselves.

			Ready for what? What’s going on? Did someone die, Rusinè? Her husband initially humiliated her by declaring that she was too impernacchiata, a word he used to describe my grandmother’s nouveau riche relatives when they got decked out in feathered hats, too much rouge, too much gold jewelry: vulgar and gaudy women, I think he meant, women who were about as elegant as the sound of blowing a raspberry. But since she resisted and didn’t change her clothes, by way of revenge he wanted my brother and me to come along, too, so that we could enjoy his artistic triumphs. He would’ve brought along the other two children if one of them hadn’t been so vivacious and the other one still an infant. Hell, why not bring them? And grandmother, too. Let’s bring everyone, a family outing, so that she wouldn’t forget her role as mother of his children and not some chanteuse, which was how she wanted to appear just to make him look like shit in front of all those people who already considered him an intruder and who were trying, night after night, to knock him down. What the hell had he done to deserve a woman like that?

			I remember almost nothing from our visit to the exhibition. We probably took the funicular down, crossed Via Toledo, and then walked the rest of the way under the porticoes of Galleria Umberto, my father five steps ahead of my mother, truculent, and us three steps behind.

			Rusinè never mentioned the event and Federí, when recalling that era, only talked about all the wrongs he had suffered, the paintings he had nonetheless sold, the reviews of the show, both good and bad. His wife had been neatly expulsed from his memories of those June days. Us kids, too.

			But La Padula, the building developer, was there. He strode into the San Carlo elegantly dressed and surrounded by an obsequious and lively entourage, and immediately fell so in love with the painting entitled Cantiere ’54 that he decided to buy it for his son, who would soon graduate with a degree in architecture. And just like that, he wrote out a check for 120,000 lire: two and a half months of a railroad employee’s salary. He wrote it out right in front of everyone, including the communist art critic, Paolo Ricci. I never found out if my father exaggerated the amount or if, instead, some backroom deal took place and it was paid for with cash that flowed in rivers thanks to hard labor, money that had been made to the sound of pile-drivers and hoists and silos of cement being poured right outside our windows, and then used to purchase, with great largesse, a painting that would hang like a trophy in an architect’s office. Whatever the details, he, the railman-artist or artist-railman or just simply the artist, pocketed the check with the pride of someone who was glad to show that they could make money better and more nobly than those butchers, pastry chefs, salami-makers, and other people who were starting to get rich under his anxious gaze. And yet, there he was making his way over to Engineer Isabella, the building councilman, who was both less powerful than the developer and less sensitive to the cement mixers and concrete molds despite his political role, or maybe precisely because of it. Engineer Isabella was captivated by his painting Natura morta con pesci and wanted to buy it and bring it home, but not for its asking price of 50,000 lire (one month of a railroad employee’s salary). He wanted it for 40,000 lire (slightly less than one month of a railroad employee’s salary). And so the negotiations began. “Fifty,” my father said. “Forty,” said the engineer. They were just about to come to an agreement, “Fine, forty,” when my father turned and saw Rusinè standing in the center of the room. 

			She was not alone. Nor was she tending to her children, who wandered awkwardly around the gallery. Surrounding her was a dense swarm of second-rate painters, illiterate poets, and incompetent art critics, with one man saying one thing and the other saying something else, while she replied in a bubbly voice or burst into laughter, showing her white teeth and flashing her almond-shaped eyes, which, right in that moment, La Padula the developer seemed to notice and appreciate deeply, as did a middle-aged poet who was busy complimenting her in cadenced phrases, each one almost a perfect hendecasyllable, promising her the gift of a book of his poems with a personalized dedication. “I will come to your house in person tomorrow, and present you with the gift myself, dear lady,” he concluded. “Thank you,” my mother replied, sighing with pleasure. She was so beautiful that even Engineer Isabella felt obliged to tell my father what an attractive lady she was. But my father didn’t have time to reply: walking straight toward them was none other than Chiancone, a painter and professor at the Istituto d’arte, an absolute lunatic, his face ruddy and flustered, keen on adding his two cents to the negotiations. “Chiancone,” Engineer Isabella felt obliged to ask, “in your opinion is this Natura morta con pesci worth 50,000 lire?” And can you guess what the bastard replied? “Engineer Isabella, taste is a personal matter and a person is entitled to spend his money however he wants on something that he likes, but let me just say that what a person likes is not always a work of art.” The man was saying that Natura morta con pesci wasn’t a work of art. Not a work of art? For fuck’s sake. And Chiancone’s shitty paintings were works of art? That man needed to have the shit pumped out of him, he was nothing more than a raging sewer full of shit, he needed to puke up all the bile and vomit out all the foul things and get fucked up the ass, both him and Engineer Isabella. 

			My father, furious, interrupted the negotiations. 

			Then there’s a gap. It all starts up again when I’m at home in bed. My brother and I share a bed head to toe, and he’s sleeping, or pretending to sleep. Lying in a bed next to me is my grandmother and the third-born son, who is seven. The youngest one still sleeps with my parents, who aren’t sleeping. I hear my father yelling, my mother sobbing her replies, there’s the sound of running, things fall and break. I say the prayers that my grandmother taught me when I was young, the Ave Maria, for starters. I say it to myself but really loudly so that the voice in my head drowns out my father’s yelling. A futile stratagem. Then it dawns on me that it doesn’t matter if I pray or not because the Virgin Mary exists and, if she has any powers at all, she’ll do everything she can to stop him from killing my mother. So I whisper softly, in dialect, which is the only language I know well, “Mother Mary, please make him stop.” I say it over and over, concentrating as hard as I can, as if repeating it makes the words even more convincing. But the Virgin Mary does nothing. I try to overcome my terror and get up slowly from bed, I walk toward the bedroom door, and open it a crack. I don’t know what to do. I’m twelve years old but I’m scared of my father. It’s not a physical fear, or rather the physical aspect of my fear is what I notice and remember least. It’s another kind of fear. I’m afraid of appearing before him empty-handed, without possessing any logical reasons that he would consider worthy opposition, an echo chamber for all the insults he’s screaming, for all his swearing. As a result, I fear that he will force me to admit that he has the sacrosanct right to kill my mother. I fear that I will agree with him. And consequently, my fear is intolerable. 

			That’s when I see him. I also see her. She’s crying and is trying to get away from him and moves toward the kitchen. I see bottles and pots and glasses falling to the floor. I understand perfectly what he is yelling at her. “Vain!” he screams, that enigmatic word that will remain forever imprinted in my mind with its injurious sound, a word that’s not part of our everyday dialect, his voice strident as he spews other words, obscenities, and insults. No one in our house knows what that word means, not my mother, not even me, and I just completed sixth grade. Only he knows the meaning. He screams it again, Vain! He slaps her repeatedly, both with his open palm and with the back of his hand, ruining her olive skin, her mouth, her hairdo, causing her elegant hair combs to go flying. 

			I don’t know what to do. I add up all the punches that already took place but which I didn’t see with the ones that I am seeing; I add up the ones I heard from bed with the ones I am hearing now—I’m still adding them up now as I write—when smacks and words echo endlessly, saying she’s no longer allowed to leave the house, never, ever again; because of her my father lost at least 300,000 lire this evening. Engineer Isabella wanted to buy two paintings, they had been negotiating, and what did she do? She started busting his balls with all that smiling, flirting, showing her leg. You don’t get it Rusinè, your giggling, your laugh, Rusinè, you don’t understand. You have no idea who those people are. They’re shit! Poet, my ass. Sculptor, my ass. Engineer, my ass! Right now they’re standing around outside the Galleria, laughing, and you know what they’re saying? I bet that I bang her before you do, they’re saying; that fellow from the railroad only sells his paintings thanks to his wifey, they’re saying; without her he’d be zilch, he doesn’t even know how to paint; and you, you brought it all on with your vanity, your vanity! You’re so vain! And more words followed, all in dialect, all accompanied by the sound of him slapping her, with many colorful, unspeakable offenses.

			I was so horrified that I retreated. Or maybe I never actually got up out of bed. Maybe my grandmother stopped me. She was lying there awake and looking at the ceiling, saying things like ciunkllochemmommò, black magic incantations that mean stop, freeze, stay in bed, as if you’ve suddenly been paralyzed, it’s all your mamma’s fault, she shouldn’t talk back to him, I told her a thousand times that she shouldn’t talk back to him but she never listens, she’s too headstrong, Madonna mia, Madonna mia, ciunkllochemmommò, it doesn’t concern you, it doesn’t concern any of us, it’s between husband and wife: tomorrow they’ll love each other more than yesterday and less than the day after tomorrow. 

			She says it in a whisper, but maybe it’s enough to stop me. Or maybe what stopped me was the sudden weakness I felt, just like a thousand other times: that absence of energy that my father’s angry voice released in me; the horrible way he managed, with one utterance from his throat, to make my body feel both heavy and empty, empty of thoughts and reason, and filled with lead from my head to my toes; a heaviness that always made me cry, though I tried hard not to. And the tears broke me, in the sense that they flattened me and weakened me and humiliated me for what was an indefinite amount of time, maybe my whole life.

			The point is that while I see him slapping her, while I see Federí hitting her, and she trying to protect herself, I see her hair combs go flying—and yet somehow even sight is not certain, we see with so many possible eyes, there’s no single word or syllable or groan or smack that doesn’t get transformed immediately into one image, two, a hundred—while I see all that, I don’t see anything else, I only hear him yelling, threatening that if even just one of those dogshit bastards ever comes around, he’ll throw them down the stairs, ’st’uommenemmèrd, those pieces of shit, because they still don’t understand what kind of man he is. He’s not like Nicola in the fable his grandmother Funzella used to tell him as a child in order to prepare him for life; he’s no sheep, he’s no piécoro, becco, curnuto, he’s not some foolish cuckold like Nicola, all because of that slut of his wife Lillina; no one’s going to taunt him with ’a Lillina ’e Don Nicò, fa l’ammore con Totò, ’on Nico, ’on Nico, tu sì piécher’e nuje no; he’d rather beat his wife to death, strangle her with his hands, oh padreterno, what have I done to deserve this? Enough! Give those hair combs to me! You’re never going to wear them again! Never, ever again! You’re too vain, Rusinè. Such vanity!

			Empty. My mother’s core is emptied out. Like me, she has no thoughts. She’s mere kindling for a fire. When she speaks, her words fan the flames of vanity. Or else she exhales smoke, and it spreads through the house. And then there’s that smell. It’s the heavy smell of a heat-resistant object releasing a dark, volatile substance and slowly burning in the fireplace grate. My mother wails, my grandmother starts in on a rosary and pleads for revenge, my brother cries in his pretend sleep, and the hair-combs burst into flame—at least, I think they do, that’s how I imagine them—on that June night. Their acrid odor makes me nauseous, I feel pain deep in my stomach and in my nose, it’s the smell of agony. I will always remember this moment in great detail. It goes on to become indissoluble with my mother’s body, as if Federí had not only burned her hair combs in the fire, but her nails or hair or the thick dark eyelashes that shielded her eyes.

			This all took place one summer night in long-ago 1955. But whenever I mentioned it later to my father, he referred to it as a passing argument, nothing more. What slapping? What hitting? As for the hair combs, well, he’d gladly share some other, far more important details than those insignificant hair combs. Things related to that era: people, wrongs to which he had been subjected. Cucurra, for example (he changed the names as he wished, like Cucurra for Chiancone), that professor at the Istituto dell’arte, a presumptuous bastard full of vitriol. Had he ever told me how that man had interfered with and ruined the sale of one of his still-lifes? And what about Paolo Ricci, whom everyone called Paolone, the art critic from L’Unità: had he ever told me that story? He was a disagreeable man who masked his presumptuousness with his elegant ways: he always wore a red kerchief around his neck and relied on a heavy walking stick, a weapon more than a tool. On June 13, 1955, in a cruel review of Federí’s work on show at the San Carlo, that conniving man wrote, “There’s still something of a hesitant tone in his art, something superficial, something belabored.” What total shit. Hesitant tone? Superficial and belabored tone? With my university degree in literature, I would no doubt agree with him that “a belabored tone” was not even proper grammar! Clearly, comrade Ricci had it in for him, and that was the point. With his own two eyes, comrade Ricci had seen La Padula, the capitalist builder, write out a check for Cantiere ’54 for 120,000 lire. Get it? He took out his jealousies by pretending to defend the proletariat. Proletariat, my ass.

			And on he went, freewheeling, first laughing complacently, then bitterly, piling on the details, replacing my own vague reconstructions of the events with his vivid fantasies, while also injecting new venomous thoughts into my memory. But then, all of a sudden, he’d recall how he had beat her and burnt the hair combs and to erase those memories he’d declare in a visibly heartfelt tone his usual phrase: “Oh, how I loved your mother.” And then he’d go on to say—as if he wanted to prove it to me—how, out of love for his wife, out of love for his children, he had to give up so many opportunities, chances that you either grab in the moment or lose forever. No, the idea of sacrificing his family for the sake of his art was simply not an option, although he had often thought of going out for a pack of cigarettes and never coming back. Things like that happened; you read about it in the papers. But did he ever do that? No. And why not? Because underneath it all he was a good man, even if he had been wronged and treated unfairly every single step of the way, ever since he was born, beginning with his parents, beginning with his father. Yes, his father. And then he’d start talking about his childhood and youth and himself with such pleasure, reviving memories that had been stored away after each retelling, and enhancing them with a new, energetic cascade of words. 

			 

			That morning it seemed to me that I had done the right thing. It was pointless to try and contradict my father and end up in the spiraling gyre of his endless chatter. Better off moving forward with the work I had originally set out to do.

			So I concentrated on a different episode. But that turned out to be a mistake; I should’ve been content and left well enough alone. I ended up spending the whole afternoon trying to remember dates, identify places, and apply structure to fluid images. The results were confounding.

			Space and time, for example. The window I recalled seemed to be from the dining room of the apartment on Via Gemito, number 64, in Vomero, where we lived until 1956, and yet the bathroom was definitely the one from the apartment on Corso Arnaldo Lucci, number 149, where we moved in 1957. The first time my mother was hit and slapped was in a building located between Napoli Centrale and the entrance to the Napoli–Pompei highway, the kitchen of which looked out over the freight car depot and its tracks, maybe in 1958. Then I saw her running away from my father—her face puffy and swollen with tears, her bathrobe fluttering open behind her like a cape, her light blue slip with white lace trim torn here and there—and out of the dining room of the house on Via Gemito in 1956. Then I saw her opening a window and trying to throw herself out of it. Someone tried to hold her back (my grandmother, my father, maybe we frightened children? All I see are shadows) but she wriggled out of our grasp with surprising strength and leapt across two years of time, ran down the hall of the apartment on Corso Arnaldo Lucci, reached the bathroom, hurried over to the shelf opposite the mirror, felt around, knocking things over, clawing at objects, and then slit her wrist with a razor blade. Or maybe it was the palm of her hand. Maybe it was with a shard of glass from something she had accidentally broken. First it was a blade, then a piece of glass, they fell into the sink, they fell onto the floor. I saw them both and couldn’t make up my mind. She stood still, watching the dripping blood. So did my brothers, so did I. Only my father panicked. He covered his eyes, turned away, and screamed, “Mamma mia bella, mamma mia bella,” with all the theatrical horror and alarm he showed any time there was the least bit of blood, at any scrape and scratch, his or ours. My grandmother yelled something at him and shook him. He ran out of the room calling to the padreterno for help and came back with an orange tie, grabbed my mother’s wrist, cried out to all the saints and virgins, and wrapped that ludicrous thing around it, the blood immediately soaking it red and wetting his hands. My mother, who had since grown calm, gently pushed him away and knotted the tie slightly higher up her arm with the help of her white teeth. “Take me to the hospital,” she said.

			That’s all. Not much. Memories I could’ve enriched with additional stories my father told about why we moved from Via Gemito to Corso Arnaldo Lucci, about his work as a railroader, and how there was never enough money while my mother’s relatives flaunted the money they’d made as shop owners. I could’ve dipped into that material and sharpened that hazy recollection. Hadn’t the process of remembering already been helpful to me in reconstructing the episode of the burnt hair-combs? And without the background details of his job on the railroad, his art, and the exhibition, what was it anyway? Just someone screaming a single word on a summer’s night: vain. The anguish of a twelve-year-old kid when he sees his parents fight. The smell of something burning. All the rest—if I got up out of bed or not, if I saw my father hit my mother or not—was just as much the product of childhood nightmares and teenage angst as the ghost of the woman I continued to see, suspended in time and space, running through my mind, even as an adult, running desperately toward death. 

			 

			Gradually, as time passed, I focused less and less on those two episodes. Irrefutable facts lead nowhere, they’re like unimportant country roads that are resistant to maintenance and eventually entirely abandoned. I stopped caring. The problem, I remember thinking, was something else entirely, and it had nothing to do with one particular June night or a woman who tried to cut her wrists. The problem was that for my whole life—even now as I write—I secretly believed that, at some point in time, my father transformed from macebearer into relentless tormenter. Over time, he wore her out and contributed to her death. It didn’t matter if he hit her once or a hundred times. What mattered was whether I accused him or let him off the hook before he died. I took note of this with a certain amount of disgust. Let me think about it, I said to myself. There was time: my father had decided he’d die in 2017, at the age of one hundred. He believed he had more important things to do.

			Then, with a joyful feeling, I suddenly remembered the peacock. It was an animal that was central to my childhood and a topic I would’ve gladly discussed with my father, if I had ever been given the chance. It was our secret, his and mine, and it would be easy for him to answer my questions, there was nothing for him to have to wriggle out of, the episode wouldn’t trigger any senile regrets. And on a surface level, my mother didn’t even have anything to do with it; it would be easy to start there.

			But when I decided to go see him and possibly even talk to him about it, I realized that somehow he had shrunk, he had lost something of himself, he was dying before the date he had destined for himself. He cried out in pain at regular intervals. “Padreterno, padreterno,” he kept saying and asked for a gun. He’d mime one with his hand, point it at his temple, look up at the ceiling and say, “Bam!” Then he’d flop back down on the pillows and mumble over and over, “Mamma mia, what terrible things I’ve done.”

			Later that afternoon, his second wife called me out into the garden. “Would you just listen to him,” she sighed, embarrassed and weary. “A friend of ours died from the same illness a few months ago and not once put on such a scene. Why does he always have to exaggerate?”

			 

			Whenever I’m in a good mood I feel as though the colorful eyes of a peacock’s train are looking down on me, the same peacock that I saw long ago in the house on Via Gemito, when my father yelled, “Cigarettes!” at me in dialect and I ran to get them from his jacket pocket, which was hanging in their bedroom on a chair between their wardrobe and his desk. The house was icy cold and pitch black, the dark glass panes trembled in their casements from the wind. I got up from the dinner table while the embers slowly turned to ash in the grate of the woodburning stove. I always obeyed my father and never objected; I obeyed him for as long as he lived.

			One step away from the kitchen door, I turned around to look at him. Or I think I did, anyway. I’m working with the power of suggestion here; I have two or three unstable images, a few yelled words. I definitely see his gaunt back and his thick black hair. He’s an unhappy shadow and sits at the head of the table. He’s definitely about to shout something, maybe he’s already shouted it. He wants to argue, that’s for sure, but he also wants to hold back, calm down, and that’s why he needs to smoke. I have to hurry. My mother is sitting to his right and holding their third child in her arms, nursing him. The distance between her and her husband is minimal; it would be easy for him to hit her and cause blood to flow from either her nose or mouth.

			I’m an anxious child, having already experienced a number of frightening situations, and it’s hard for me to leave the warmth of the kitchen. I still don’t trust this house, we’ve only been here for a few months. We used to live on Via Zara with my father’s parents in their apartment, but they were evacuated to Savignano with the rest of the family because of the bombings. The apartment was in ruins, nothing more than dust and rubble. A whole wall had crumbled because of a bomb, and the floor led to a dangerous precipice; Federí rigged up a military blanket in its place. My father is relentless, he always thinks ahead. I don’t remember anything about those days in the apartment on Via Zara, of course, but he’s filled my head with stories, and I know that more than once he managed to save me by grabbing me before I fell into the abyss on the other side of the blanket. Mannaggiamarròn, Rusinè! The kid! he’d yell and catch hold of me himself, and I’d start crying and never quit. It’s thanks to him that I’m still alive, who knows what the hell my inattentive mother was thinking about. You have to keep a hundred eyes on him at all times, he screams at her, and then he calms down and explains that I’m attracted to the fluttering blanket that’s frozen stiff in the winter and thronging with flies in the summer, and she better watch out or the kid’s going to fall and die. But she’s pregnant for the second time, she’s got nausea, a belly, worries: good thing my father has fast reflexes and is there to prevent a disaster from happening. 

			I imagine growing up like that, surrounded by dust and yelling, for all of 1944 and 1945. The child that still lives inside me somewhere, here inside my skull, must have seen beatings, heard insults, and learned to speak like his father, who sometimes breaks into a fury and wishes that the whole house would collapse and free him of all these hassles, and who, at other times, is cheerful, invents senseless stories in an odd language that is not the language usually spoken on Via Zara, and bounces his first-born on his knee or sings him Neapolitan ditties or throws him into the air and catches him with a whoopla. 

			It’s true, my father can also be great fun and full of surprises. He gave me a sable coat—what is a sable, anyway?—so that I’d be warm. Once he came back from the no-man’s lands to which he disappeared each morning with a playful rocking horse painted in bright colors and with a face that seemed almost real. He had a carpenter named Don Peppe build it from a drawing he himself had done. What a special drawing that was . . . Don Peppe enthusiastically took up his circular saw and cut the rocking horse out of beechwood. Yes, my father can make a person bleed but he can also amaze people with exceptional words and objects. Mimí, you remember all those songs I used to invent, he often asked me over the years so that I wouldn’t forget. You remember all those wonderful toys I gave you?

			Of course I do. I remember everything about him; he filled my head with his words and thoughts. I have none of my mother’s words though, none of my mother’s thoughts. And yet the first syllables I spoke must have surely come from her. I wish I could hear her words again, I wish I could feel how I welcomed them in my throat, repeating mutilated versions of them over and over in that room with no walls on Via Zara. But my father, with his usual energy, modified their speed and erased their tone. He injected them with an ambition and will that didn’t belong to his wife, but to him. After all, wasn’t he the one who brought back to that space—bordered by the bed on one side and the military blanket on the other, by warm milk and the abyss—the desire to be heard, to be the loudest, to stand out? No, my mother’s voice, even if it wound its way into every single fiber of my child’s body, ultimately gave out, was too fragile. She, who unquestionably played with me, sang to me, and made toys for me, didn’t have it in her to leave me with any sounds. She was quickly reduced to the words that her husband screamed at her from the moment he came home from work until late at night: fuck it all, Rusinè, fuck it all.

			Suddenly, or so it seemed, in early March 1946, my grandfather came back from Savignano with the whole family. He took back possession of the apartment on Via Zara and threw us all out from one day to the next. “You wanted to marry her, you shithead! Now quit busting my balls!” he yelled at his son. There followed more than the usual amount of shouting, rude offenses, women shrieking. Father and son hurled insults at each other that they had been storing up for some time, almost coming to blows. I must’ve seen and heard the entire scene, that’s what eyes and ears were for after all, and what I saw and heard must have run aground within me somewhere, deep in a gully or gorge of my body, I can feel it in my fingers as I type, as if they know more than what I am actually writing. My grandfather’s cussing, for example, and how he wanted his bombed-out apartment back for his numerous family; his enmity for his mendacious son who wasn’t content with being a factory worker like himself; their shared obsession for money, the money I gave you, the money you gave me, the money you stole from me. They were surrounded by the war-torn city, where everyday life was risky, its terrors perfectly captured by the chorus of howling women who stood near the two arguing men, the older one yelling and punching at whatever got in his way, the younger one foaming at the mouth with violence but holding back, not saying another word. Phrases like: leave me alone, Papà, don’t make me say it, don’t make me say it; holy mother of Jesus, help me, don’t make me hit my father; you all heard him, my son hitting me, hitting me! ’Stu chiavecchmmèrd, ’stu figliesfaccímm, that cesspool of shit, that sonofabitch bastard, he wants my neck; in other words, he wants to strangle me; it’s a rhetorical device, a part for the whole, he wants to get his hands on his father’s body and butcher him, dismember him, in perfect keeping with the landscape littered with butchered bodies left after the recently ended war.

			The women scream, but later they’ll talk calmly about the ugly encounter. My grandmother said that she saw two males incarzapellúti—that’s the word she used—two males with hackles up who went at each other’s throats like animals. I was in her arms at the time, she said, a three-year-old who stared, agog, at the scene, at how they faced off, hollering at each other for the whole neighborhood to hear. I must’ve seen and perceived the fierceness necessary to be a part of this world. I was shocked and, from that moment forward, disgusted by my grandfather. Every year on his saint day, August 4, when I had to go to his apartment on Via Zara, I was filled with angst. I’d wish him a pleasant onomastic and offer up my gift of two packets of Nazionali, but the scowling and toothless old man barely mumbled a word.

			Luckily, the lady upstairs on the sixth floor, Signora Attardi, a widow of a railroad employee, offered to host Federí, his wife, their two children, and his mother-in-law in her apartment, in a space that connected the kitchen to her bedroom. It was a generous show of hospitality and offered free of charge. My father took advantage of it for more than a year and a half. And so there we lived, behind more walls of rigged-up military blankets, with people coming and going and not a shred of privacy. Until one day, Federí got fed up and, in his usual frenzied rage, went out one morning and procured the house on Via Gemito for us.

			 

			The way it happened—he always enjoyed telling us this story—was that as soon as the trains started running again more or less in a normal manner, he went back to working as second in charge (but now in the ticket office) and started to look for an apartment right away. He went to the housing office for railroad employees and applied for lodgings in one of the railway-owned buildings, both in writing and in person. Come back tomorrow, come back the day after, they said, but they never had anything for him, and not because there weren’t any apartments available but because once the war was over, things went back to being worse than they were before, same old monkey business and backroom deals. For example—he’d go on to explain to me each time he told the story—the person in charge of assigning public housing to the railroad workers, a fellow named Lanza, had worked in that very job, the exact same one, during the fascist period, and now, even with Mussolini long gone, he continued to hold the position. So much for a new moral code, so much for new men. It was all shit, all talk. Whenever my father had a free moment, he’d go see Lanza. “Any good news for me? Any apartments open up? Anyone been transferred or retired?” he’d ask. And Lanza would always answer the same way, no, I’m sorry, and then he’d go back to confabulating with Cannavaccio, head of the railroad police; Lanza and he were like cup and spoon, in cahoots, granting housing only to a select few.

			Cannavaccio knew my father well and detested him. Every time he saw Federí stride into the office without knocking, that crazy look in his darting, beady eyes, he’d yell at him, “Hey boss, don’t you know you’re supposed to knock before you walk in?” as if it was his office and not the housing office for railroad workers and their families. Federí had a hard time holding back. A single uppercut and he’d have broken all his teeth, but he didn’t dare; he had to think of his family. And then, one day in September 1947, he walks into the housing building on Via Santa Lucia, already tense from a day of work. He runs up the first flight of stairs, then takes the second; with each step he’s getting closer to screaming like a madman. Winter’s coming, he has two children, one aged four and the other only two, he can’t stay a minute longer in old lady Attardi’s place, they have to do something for him. 

			He walks into Lanza’s office and naturally Cannavaccio is there, sitting across from him. Cannavaccio opens his mouth for his usual comment of “Hey boss, don’t you know you’re supposed to knock before you walk in?” Federí is on fire, ready to unleash all sorts of obscenities and stick his claws into the man’s throat when some assistant walks into the room. He extends a bunch of keys to Lanza in his open palm. “Here are the keys from the apartment at 64 Via Gemito, boss. It was vacated an hour ago.” My father eyes the keys, Lanza, and Cannavaccio. It’s a fraction of a second. “Thanks,” my father says and grabs the keys out of the assistant’s hand, slips past Cannavaccio, who tries to stop him, and bolts down the stairs two at a time. “Someone catch that piece of shit!” the commissioner orders. Lanza screams at the assistant who let the keys be stolen out of his hand. Cannavaccio chases after my father personally, screaming and threatening him. “Bring the keys back or you’re going to be in real trouble!”

			But Federí has no intention of returning them. He pauses, turns around, and looks up at Cannavaccio standing at the top of the stairs yelling, “Bring back the keys, we’ll shut an eye on the whole affair.” Federí gestures for him to go fuck himself, slapping the crook of his arm. As far as gestures go, I make a note to myself, that’s not one of his usual ones; while he frequently relies on offensive body language in his stories, it’s either that of spitting or pissing in their direction, the latter enacted by standing with his legs spread wide, back arched, fingertips of both hands pointing directly at his pubis, and sneering with contempt. Anyway, off he runs down Via Santa Lucia, a thirty-year-old man, hair flying in the gusty breeze that blows in from the sea that September day. He runs and runs, then stops a taxi, and lets himself be driven to Via Gemito so he can occupy the apartment, with its two large rooms, a modern WC with sink, toilet, and flusher, and a large kitchen: the very same kitchen where he now sits brooding at the table, the dark panes of glass trembling in their casements, the embers slowly turning to ash in the grate of the woodburning stove. 

			 

			I’m a child when I hear my father tell his stories, and I listen with my mouth wide open. Sometimes I get so mesmerized that my lips go numb and with great embarrassment I realize that I’m drooling worse than my newborn baby brother. For months I’m scared that Cavaliere Lanza and Commissioner Cannavaccio will come and take back the keys to the apartment. But the worry that consumes me doesn’t appear to affect my father in the slightest. “Cavaliere Lanza thought he was going to screw me over,” he often boasts cheerfully, “and instead, I managed to screw him.” He’s so proud of his achievement; he risked going to prison for his family but he fought back against the shady dealings that went on in the housing office. When you meet a loudmouth—he instructs me and will continue to instruct me over the years—you have to be even more of a loudmouth, Mimí. 

			But I already realize that the damp apartment on Via Gemito, wedged between the sports field and the open countryside—which we occupied in a hurry, loading up a donkey cart with all our belongings: five mattresses, their steel bed frames, and a trunk full of linens and military blankets—is a treasure that, as fearful and timid as I am, I’d never be able to defend. If, for example, Commissioner Cannavaccio and Cavaliere Lanza showed up one night, and said, “Give us back the keys,” would I be able to help my father kick them out of the house? Would I be able to piss in the face of one and spit in the face of the other, or beat the shit out of both of them? I’m horrified about not having the mettle to do things like that. Lanza and Cannavaccio might kick down the door and reveal that I don’t know how to be the loudmouth my father wants me to be. This would be a huge letdown for him, he might yell “Get out!” at me in the same urgent tone that he used only a moment ago for “Cigarettes!” Or he might take the same aggressive tone that I hear him take with my mother as soon as I walk out of the kitchen toward the bedroom. “For fuck’s sake, Rusinè, where did all the money go? What did you do with it?” His voice grows louder, more belligerent, to the extent that she detaches my baby brother, Toni, from her breast and hands him to her mother, my grandmother. She does it because she knows exactly what direction this conversation could take and she wants to protect the baby. Once Toni is firmly in my grandmother’s arms, she twists around to face him. “What damn money are you talking about?” 

			I look at my baby brother, his mouth still wet with her milk. This fussy little being was born only two or three months ago, in January 1948. Geppe and I were woken up in the middle of the night by the noise and, when we went out in the hallway, we saw the midwife, Signora D’Eva, holding up sheets soaked with blood. We got scared. But Signora D’Eva explained to us that everything was alright, the stork had come and brought us our brother. But then the stork changed its mind and wanted to take the baby back and my father had to step in and kill the stork and dump its carcass down the toilet and flush it away. That spiraling vortex of water was already of great interest to me and my brother, but from then on it also made us a little sad. We wished we could’ve played with the stork, at least for a little bit.

			Nonna disagrees. Animals with animals, and men with men, if they’re real men, that is. But if they’re animals, they should be with other animals. Rosy-faced, she either starts chopping parsley near the hearth or sits down in the straight-back chair holding our new little brother and coos: oh-oh, oh-oh, oh-oh, the straw seat creaking as she manages to rock the chair back and forth, first on two legs and then on four, ba-bam, ba-bam, ba-bam, keeping time with the hypnotic rhythm of a nighttime lullaby that my grandmother sings like a dirge. 

			The song is about animals that kill and animals that get killed. I can only remember a few words and they still sound horrible, ninna nanna ninna nam, the wolf ate up a little lamb. It was the same wolf that prowled around the fields near Via Gemito at dusk. Its dark howls took my breath away in fear; sometimes the sound of the wild beast came from outdoors, sometimes from within.

			From within, my grandmother led us to believe, from within. And on that night of the cigarettes, to get our baby brother to fall asleep she had to sing louder than my father was shouting in his ever-growing rage with Rusinè. Uh-oh, the wolf is coming. Uh-oh, the wolf is here. He wants to eat the baby lamb. And now he eats it up. But now the wolf is shouting too, his words getting sharper: “The money I earned from the Teatro Bellini!” My mother insists that she knows nothing about that money; my father says the 100,000 lire, and she replies, what 100,000 lire are you talking about. It’s an absurd amount, like all the numbers that come out of Federí’s mouth over the course of his lifetime, but a true one in his deceitful mind, so true that he demands that my mother tell him immediately: where’s the money from the Teatro Bellini? What did she do with it? How did she spend it? She can’t tell him a thing, though, not then and not ever. How could she possibly hand over an imaginary sum of money? That’s when all of us—me, on my way to get the cigarettes, my brother Geppe, even Toni, who’s now being held by my Nonna, whom we call Nannina but whose official name is Anna Di Lorenzo—know that dinner is over, that soon, because of that money, our father will turn into a dragon and spit forth deathly flames, and that we need to get ready to face the terrified heart of night. He’s fidgety, in need of a cigarette, he keeps repeating himself obsessively. “Where’s the 100,000 lire from the Teatro Bellini? Where is it?” And Rusinè, instead of being quiet and keeping the peace, just can’t help herself and sneers at him, hell if I know.

			During that winter of 1948, on the evening I was sent to get his cigarettes, the teatrobellini—all one word, all lower case—was already a vague, fuzzy sign of conjugal discord. Uttered in a tone of voice that grew more and more aggressive as the night went on, it held all sorts of meanings: look at what I managed to do, look at what I could’ve done, if only you had appreciated me and supported me. The phrase “It’s all your fault I had to stop” had not yet made an appearance. It may well have been uttered for the first time that night. The even stronger version, the irrefutable “It was all your mother’s fault” only came into usage in the middle of the 1960s, however, when his wife’s voice could no longer snicker and contradict him in dialect. “Me? My fault? What did I ever do?”

			In any case, before being a bundle of hostile accusations, one of many in the house on Via Gemito, before being an indictment, the first one my father charged at Rusinè, the Teatro Bellini was just a theater. “It was among the most beautiful in Naples,” Federí used to say, going on to edify me. “It was built with Baron Lacapra’s money by the architect Carlo Sorgent.” It had six tiers of seats, all gilded, an absolute wonder. At the young age of twenty-six, he was in charge of set design, choreography, everything. He was responsible for recruiting all the staff, artisans, and dancers. At every opening, he seated Rusinè and Nonna Nannina in no less than the royal box while I—you, he’d say—would watch from my mother’s lap.

			When, three years ago, the first time I tried to write about the winter of 1948 and the years that led up to it, and ultimately about the peacock, I remember getting stuck on that “royal box” for a long time, trying to extricate it from the random arguments that surrounded it and see it for what it was: spotlights, crown molding, the sound of the English language, the sound of my mother’s breathing, as well as that of my grandmother. I wanted that to be the starting point for a wide-angle view of the whole place as he had experienced it, as we had all experienced it. But that was a mistake. My efforts were in vain. With each version of the experience that my father recounted, the theater grew in his imagination, going from an actual theater to an imaginary destination, a dazzling stop on his predestined journey, as if all the horrors of World War II, battle after battle, cadaver after cadaver, had unfolded from 1939 to 1943 just so that the English army could requisition the building on Via Conte di Ruvo, so that Staff Sergeant Leefe of the Naafi-Efi (which is what Federí called it) could entrust it to him so that he could organize entertainment for soldiers on leave.

			The Teatro Bellini was an actual place. It existed just like so many other real places, each one of which can still be visited today, creating an actual topographical map. Just like the apartment at 18 Via Zara in the neighborhood of Savignano, from which he departs one day in August 1943 for Avignon, France, which was then a German-occupied city (dressed in his radio operator’s uniform, a heinous example of a uniform—he said—when compared to the beautiful German ones). But, like all the other places Federí mentioned, it too was a landscape of dreams and nightmares, just one of the many stations on his own way of the cross that he traveled day in and day out, for months on end, plundering hell and then ascending into a paradise where his talents were recognized. 

			It was pointless to try and seek out the truth. I had to write “royal box” and accept the term “royal box” as he intended it when he decided to educate me about everything, starting with the facts that had befallen him. I couldn’t say no thank you, so I just stood there, without moving, hanging onto his every word. I listened and, even though I was always a little scared that he might quiz me to see if I was following carefully, I was especially impressed by his skill at connecting places, seasons, events, and illustrating all the wrongs to which he had been subjected, and principally at the hands of my mother. Listening to him, it always seemed like everything happened just the way he said it did, that the events that unfolded in those years really did take place one after the other with the focus always on his life, the most precious of all materials worth preserving. If there was one design he never complained about, it was that of providence. He couldn’t accept that facts fell like rain, casually, without taking him into consideration. No, he was certain that both great and small events had a common thread: the mystery of his destiny. And he constantly tried to prove it to himself, his relatives, his friends, and to us children by weaving a vibrant pattern in which the only events that were true were the ones vitally connected to him. Consequently, all the names of cities and buildings and roads, all of geography, served merely to create a map of his needs, and this was how they were to be remembered. 

			For example, where had he done his military service? How did Avignon come into the picture? What wartime events had led him to the Bellini? Had he actually done any fighting? Had he really been at the Russian front, marched all the way to Stalingrad? 

			He believed he had been there. It was a foregone conclusion that he had been there, maybe he had convinced himself that having fought in Russia and surviving Soviet gunfire and the icy cold were the best proof of his indispensability to the world.

			But while he spoke I observed my mother out of the corner of my eye and she didn’t let him tell his story in peace. When Federí mentioned his fateful departure for the Russian front and his miraculous return, safe and sound, she shook her head. He noticed her and it made him clench his teeth. “What? Don’t you remember?” he’d ask. “Sure, sure,” she’d smirk, which he didn’t like one bit. Rusinè was an inconvenient witness, she saw the facts as they happened, at random; she didn’t understand that the significance of certain events lies in the imagination of the person who experiences them and revisits them, without splitting hairs. So, sometimes, as if to convince her too, he upped the dose of details; other times he carefully wriggled out of things and toward more plausible battlefields.

			The result was that his participation in the war always came across as somewhat vague. First he was sent to Russia, then he was about to be sent but the commanding officer sent him to a different front, then he never talked about Russia at all, and his wartime experiences were limited to his stint in Menton as a military radio operator for the German forces, 155th Marconi Company, barracked in the Caravan Palace on the Côte d’Azur.

			But then he left Menton and was sent to Pierrefeu-du-Var, where the armored car transceiver was transferred and, between one shift of monitoring and the next, he managed to find time to draw or paint. Then he ended up in Avignon, the city of Popes, a happy place where he had been able to focus less on the transceiver and more on an eighteen-year-old painter with a fragrant name, Rose Fleury, who was born and bred in Nîmes—in the Gard region, a teacher at Les Angles elementary school, and an expert on the Barbizon School—and responsible for both his artistic and sentimental education.

			It should be mentioned that the only actual war stories he told with any element of drama in them were those that took place shortly after his first physical exam. Initially, he stood out in a positive way. As one of the tallest men present (with a height of 1.81 m), and also broad-chested (at 90 cm across), he definitely was the best proportioned. In other words, he was well-built, intelligent, and he immediately pointed out that he had a calling as artist. He counted on training to become an officer, even though he hadn’t gone to the right school. He hoped to go to officers’ school in Fano and felt mentally and physically prepared for it. Instead he was assigned to the depot of the 40th infantry on Corso Emanuele, not far from Mergellina train station. And that’s where things started to go downhill. 

			He blamed his digestion, which got blocked as soon as he walked into the barracks. He blamed the endless forced marches and the heavy food that sat in his belly, weighing him down. He blamed the doctors who didn’t listen to him when he reported sick and then only prescribed him Epsom salts which just made him squat over the latrine for hours on end. He blamed the sense of fatigue, exhaustion, solitude, and sadness. He blamed the salto mortale test, a death-defying leap without a safety net. He panicked, couldn’t breathe, couldn’t stop wondering “Will I survive? Will I die?” and ended up with his head so deep in the sand he thought he had broken his neck. He blamed Colonel Uberti, who stood at the podium and screamed, “Cowards! The youth of today is shit!”

			Eventually, they had to rush him off to the military hospital. There, the medical lieutenant, a bastard with eyes like the devil, diagnosed him with congenital valvular heart disease and told him he was done for, that he had two months left to live at the most, wiggling his index and middle finger in Federí’s face. “Only two months left?” my father asked, incredulous. He, a man who had always known he was destined for great things but hadn’t yet had time to accomplish much, had only two months left to live? Bah! He spat in the face of the medical lieutenant—he always had a gob of saliva in his mouth at just the right moment—and then tried to choke him with his bare hands. How dare he diagnose him with imminent death! It took a fair number of nurses to restore calm and the medical visit concluded with him being rejected from the military for serious cardiac issues. This, in turn, led to the loss of his job as an electrical repairman and left him feeling like a poor excuse of a man.

			Damn, to be discharged like that. I never really understood his true feelings about it though. I know he wanted to become a soldier, and not even an ordinary soldier, but an officer, something that would impress people. And that’s why he always put pressure on me to study when I was a boy. “Mimí, if you have a high school diploma or university degree, you could become an officer.” He would’ve liked it if I had gone on to become a figure of authority. He would’ve enjoyed seeing soldiers salute me, as if I was the sun and they had to shield their eyes with their hands because I was so bright. He always enjoyed the rituals that set apart people who were respectable from those who were not. Maybe that’s why life in the military back then had attracted him, more for its form than its content. Mostly for the “all clear” that life in the service guaranteed. All clear in terms of health, all clear in terms of sexual prowess, all clear to work. It was a green light, it meant you were a man with a backbone, with a sizeable pair of balls, ready for all the major functions of life. 

			But no. He never admitted that he made a mistake. He did everything to convince me that his relinquishing of arms did not depend on him at all. He attributed it above all to the incompetence and stupidity of people with degrees—doctors, but not only. If those bastards hadn’t gotten involved, once he had become an officer and donned his uniform and the appropriate stripes, he would’ve had all the money and women he wanted, there would’ve been no more slaving on the railroad, he would’ve enjoyed a life of pleasure far from home. Instead now, from one day to the next, he found himself with neither uniform nor job, only disoriented. He wandered the streets of Ponti Rossi at night, thinking about how he had been stamped “unfit” for service, how he had a sick heart, how all the girls would laugh at him and say, “Honey, if you’re no good for the King, you can’t possibly be good for the Queen.” Whores. No women for him. Two months left to live. Pretty much dead already. He simply couldn’t believe it.

			His father didn’t believe it either. He quickly reached out to Professor Blasi, a physician from the Ispettorato Sanitario delle Ferrovie dello Stato as well as something of an honorary consul for the railroad militia, to obtain a certificate—for his lazy, cacacàzz, pain-in-the-ass son, a sfacimmemmèrd who thought he was better than the man who had created him but who was really nothing more than a bum who couldn’t even do a salto mortale without a safety net—that claimed Federí did not have a congenital heart disease, that he was actually as fit as a fiddle, and that he had to be immediately rehired by the national railroad service and bring home a paycheck which he, his father, desperately needed, as he had a rightfully large family. 

			And that churlish man didn’t stop there. He took his son to see Professor Boeri, an important authority with a beard, who immediately declared, “Dear boy, your heart is perfectly healthy and, God willing, you have years and years ahead of you.” Fortified by this diagnosis, his father even wrote to the secretary of the fascist party, Achille Starace, who unfortunately replied, “Kind comrade, I regret to inform you that the judgment pronounced by the military medical commission is unappealable.”

			Unappealable, that shitty official said. My grandfather, unlike my father, hated the fascists; he was a staunch socialist and would be forever. He forced his dawdling son (who, all things considered, despite being labeled terminally ill and consequently unacceptable to either King or Queen, quite liked the idea of being unemployed and found the prospect of going back to work on the railroad repugnant) to ignore Starace and put in a request to the Ministero delle Comunicazioni to be rehired. 

			Long story short, after some back and forth, on June 15, 1938 the good news arrived. My grandfather made an announcement to the entire family: even though Federí was a piece-of-shit military reject, even though he only served two weeks in the armed forces, ’o signuríno could finally go back to work. 

			 

			Things went back to their rightful place, with that dangerous twist in the road serving only to emphasize: Federí, you have a future ahead of you that no one, not even a doctor with the eyes of a devil, can take away. You’re tall, strapping, well-proportioned, you learned to box from Sacco, Frattini, Centobelli, and Rojo. It’s true that the long marches, the solitude, and especially the salto mortale test your nerves, but only because everything that is mortal repulses you. Other people are mortal; let them do the salto without a safety net. Let your childhood friends do it: Cannava, Impacciarella, Salzana, and Songes, with his silver medal. They all end up dying in war; that was their destiny. Life sends you other signals. You were born to last. What happened next has a secret meaning that soon becomes clear. Teatro Bellini awaits. Advance fearlessly. 

			And that’s exactly what he did. In 1940, everyone born from 1914 to 1919 who had been rejected was called up, and my father—he said—fearlessly stood before the Commission with his own father putting all his various papers in order, including the letter to Starace. To his great satisfaction, they immediately saw in him a deeply patriotic young man who was competent for battle. Moreover, after being subjected to a highly specialized heart exam, he was declared in perfect health and, on March 18, 1940, was assigned to the 31st Infantry, 2nd machine-gun battalion, A 13 Company. Hear that? A highly specialized heart exam, he said proudly, as recently as two years ago: a perfect bill of health. This was not the usual, speedy checkup they did to everyone; this was for the best soldiers who were being sent to Russia. 

			And that brings us back to the beginning. Did he ever leave for Russia or not? Or was the idea merely mentioned? Was he supposed to leave and then got out of it thanks to my grandfather’s strategy of mentioning how his son had been scared to do the salto mortale and diagnosed with a congenital mitral valve deficiency?

			I don’t know and I don’t really care anymore. I only remember how, when my friends came over to the house, and we’re talking about the early 1960s here, he’d say yes, he had been sent to the Russian front. With Giulio Fuiano, he made sure to say, who was only two years younger than him. Poor Fuiano had died, he was a good man. But he hadn’t. I’d sit there in a corner nervously fidgeting—I wasn’t a kid any more, I felt violence welling up inside me, and his charm no longer had any effect on me. I looked at my classmates’ faces and could tell they didn’t believe him for a minute, I kept hoping he’d quit talking, what torment it caused me. All those things that had once impressed me as a child—how he spun his stories, one thing always leading to another, nothing left to chance, not even the death of others—I now wished I could tune out entirely.

			“So, your father fought on the Russian front?” my friends would later ask me, chuckling. I’d just shrug, change the subject, and sometimes even reply casually, “Just for a week. Then they sent him to Avignon.”

			 

			He returned to Naples from Avignon to get married in May of 1942. Rusinè’s relatives were opposed to the wedding and either shook their heads woefully or gesticulated with dismay. “What if Federí gets shot and dies in war,” they said, “what will Rusinè do then? Be a widow for the rest of her life? Maybe even with a child to support?” It would be an awful life, and exactly what had happened to Nonna Nannina. When my grandmother’s husband died, she was left with two children: Rusinè, who was two years old, and Peppino, who, at the time, was still in her belly. She had suffered so much and didn’t want her daughter to live a similar life. None of the people who cared for Rusinè wanted that, and even if Federí had since been promoted from repairman to a supervisory position, and was consequently a good catch, everyone kept telling her to wait. “What’s the big hurry? Wait until the war is over, let’s see if Federí lives or dies.”

			But he was certain he’d survive. The whole thing made him breathe fire. He wanted to get married immediately. And so there was a family meeting, during the course of which, after much debate, it was decided that the two young people could be joined in matrimony but that they should abstain from being united in the flesh. My mother’s uncle, Zio Matteo, who was the husband of Nonna Nannina’s oldest sister, Zia Assunta, was chosen to relay the news to the future groom. “Federí, swear to me that you’ll wait until the war is over to have relations,” Zio Matteo said to him in dialect. “What the hell kind of promise is that, Zio Mattè? Do I look like the kind of man who gets married and doesn’t have relations?” he snapped angrily. But, realizing that Matteo was blackmailing him, he faked it and solemnly swore as much. Immediately following the wedding, he waved goodbye to them all and whisked his lovely bride off to Florence for a quick honeymoon.

			There, the newlyweds were hosted by another one of Nannina’s sisters, Zia Nenella, who was married to a policeman whom everyone in the family always called Zio Peppino di Firenze. Federí had never met either of them and traveled there with a fair number of preconceptions. During their engagement period, he explained to me, he had come to believe that Rusinè’s family was made up purely of idiots and assholes, and he departed for his honeymoon expecting the duo of Zia Nenella and Zio Peppino di Firenze to be just as much of a pain in the ass. Instead, something happened that rarely took place in his long life. In their cold attic apartment at 18 Via dei Pilastri, Federí actually had a good time. I’m not sure I can say as much for Rusinè, but he, on numerous occasions, told me so. “Mimí, I was really happy there,” he said. And it definitely wasn’t thanks to Zia Nenella, who was no different from his mother-in-law and her other sisters. It was all because of Zio Peppino di Firenze. When it grew dark, Zia Nenella tried to impose the family’s rule. “You, Federí, will sleep with Peppino and I will sleep with Rusinè,” she said. But Zio Peppino intervened on their behalf. “They’re legally married and they’ll sleep here,” he said, indicating the double bed. “But Peppí, there’s a pact,” Zia Nenella tried to object. “Do you want to uphold this pact?” Zio Peppino di Firenze asked the newlyweds. “Screw the pact,” Federí said. I’m not sure if Rusinè said anything or not, but I do know that with no further ado Federí was united in flesh with his young bride that night, and that an important friendship with Zio Peppino di Firenze was born.

			The same cannot be said for Zia Nenella. Their relationship would be forever tinged with hostility. “I was a recently married man,” he often said, “and I was always hungry, I enjoyed being with your mother and it wore me out.” But Zia Nenella wasn’t sympathetic to his efforts, and at lunch, when he eyed the largest piece of meat and made to spear it with his fork, she’d quickly take it away. “That’s for my husband,” she’d say. She didn’t give a damn that he needed to fortify himself before returning to the front. 

			 

			Florence soon became a fond memory and he and Rusinè only saw each other again in Saviano, one icy February morning in 1943. Federí was on leave from Menton and had crossed half of Italy to get there, immediately clarifying and listing all the serious risks he had undertaken en route: bombings, machine-gun fire, and so on. Rusinè was pregnant, her nine months were up, her belly stuck out to here, and even so she prepared a basin of hot water for his bath behind a curtain held up with metal wire, and proceeded to scrub him down to get rid of the lice. What else could she do? The situation was what it was, they had been evacuated, she was living with all her relatives in one big room, and they had no privacy. But while he was drying off, his rebellious locks combed forcefully back, Rusinè’s pale and gaunt husband made no secret of his displeasure at having to spend his brief period of leave there before returning to the front. He voiced his displeasure at not having been welcomed properly and remarked that not a few things seemed out of place. He complained about the overcrowding and the unfair distribution of beds. “Where are we going to sleep, you and me?” he finally came out and asked.
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